# DOE Nuclear Weapon Reliability Definition: History, Description, and Implementation

## R. L. Bierbaum, J. J. Cashen, T. J. Kerschen, J. M. Sjulin, D. L. Wright



SF2900Q(8-81)

Issued by Sandia National Laboratories, operated for the United States Department of Energy by Sandia Corporation.

**NOTICE:** This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States Government. Neither the United States Government, nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, nor any of their contractors, subcontractors, or their employees, make any warranty, express or implied, or assume any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represent that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise, does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors or subcontractors. The views and opinions expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States Government, any agency thereof, or any of their contractors.

Printed in the United States of America. This report has been reproduced directly from the best available copy.

Available to DOE and DOE contractors from Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831

Prices available from (615) 576-8401, FTS 626-8401

Available to the public from National Technical Information Service U.S. Department of Commerce 5285 Port Royal Rd Springfield, VA 22161

NTIS price codes Printed copy: A03 Microfiche copy: A01



# DISCLAIMER

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.

## SAND99-8240 Unlimited Release Printed April 1999

# **DOE Nuclear Weapon Reliability Definition: History, Description, and Implementation**

R.L. Bierbaum and J.J. Cashen Reliability and Electrical Systems Department Sandia National Laboratories Livermore, CA 94550

T.J. Kerschen, J.M. Sjulin, and D.L. Wright Reliability Assessment Department Sandia National Laboratories Albuquerque, NM 87185

Abstract: The overarching goal of the Department of Energy (DOE) nuclear weapon reliability assessment process is to provide a quantitative metric that reflects the ability of the weapons to perform their intended function successfully. This white paper is intended to provide insight into the current and long-standing DOE definition of nuclear weapon reliability, which can be summarized as:

The probability of achieving the specified yield, at the target, across the Stockpile-To-Target Sequence of environments, throughout the weapon's lifetime, assuming proper inputs.

This paper discusses the historical and academic bases for this definition and the larger Department of Defense (DoD) use planning context for the DOE's reliability metric. Details and examples of each of the elements of the definition of reliability are provided. Finally, the historical evolution of uncertainty statements for DOE weapon reliability assessments is described. Current and future challenges for the nuclear weapon reliability community, including extended weapon lifetimes and reductions in the stockpile surveillance test program, are identified and discussed.

## Acknowledgments

-----

Personnel from both Los Alamos National Laboratory (Tom Bement and Dan Varley) and Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory (including Carl Anderson, Terry Bevers, Tom Edmunds, Ron Glaser, Jeff Hagerty, Andy Lundberg, and Al Parziale) provided helpful suggestions and advice during the development of this white paper. Thanks also go to Rena Zurn, Jim Handrock, John Duncan, and George Merren (retired) at Sandia National Laboratories for reviewing and commenting upon interim drafts.

## Contents

-

-

-

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
CONTENTS	5
INTRODUCTION	6
SCOPE	7
DOE WEAPON RELIABILITY DEFINITION HISTORY AND BACKGROUND	7
THE ELEMENTS OF THE DOE WEAPON RELIABILITY DEFINITION	8
PROBABILITY MEASURE = REALISTIC LOWER BOUND ON THE PROBABILITY OF SUCCESS         ITEM OF INTEREST = DOE-DESIGNED HARDWARE         SUCCESS = ACHIEVING THE SPECIFIED YIELD AT THE TARGET         Success:       General Comments         Success:       "at the target"         Success:       "achieving the specified yield"         ENVIRONMENT = ACROSS THE STS ENVIRONMENTS, ASSUMING PROPER INPUTS         Environment:       "across the STS environments"         Environment:       "assuming proper inputs"         TIMEERAME = THROUGHOUT THE WEAPON'S LIFETIME	9 10 10 10 10 13 13 15 16 16 17 17
ESTIMATING UNCERTAINTY	19
RELIABILITY AND CONFIDENCE LIMITS RELIABILITY AND DEFECT DETECTION UNCERTAINTY	
ACRONYM LIST	
APPENDIX A: RELIABILITY DEFINITION CHARTS	
APPENDIX B: NUCLEAR WEAPON RELIABILITY DEFINITION	
APPENDIX C: DAMAGE EXPECTANCY	
APPENDIX D: RELIABILITY DEFINITION REFERENCES	
APPENDIX E: EVENTS IN EXISTING DOE WEAPON RELIABILITY MODELS ADDI THE TARGET"	ESSING "AT 31
DISTRIBUTION	

## DOE Nuclear Weapon Reliability Definition: History, Description, and Implementation

ŝ

## Introduction

This white paper is intended to provide insight into the current and long-standing DOE definition of nuclear weapon reliability, the historical and academic bases for this definition, the larger DoD use planning context for the DOE's reliability metric, details of the elements of the definition, and historical evolution of uncertainty statements for DOE weapon reliability assessments.

Current and future challenges in stockpile management provide the motivation for this paper. These include the following:

- (1) Our DoD customers need assurance that all DOE anomalies are being addressed clearly and completely. This drives a need for joint understanding of the reliability metric and what it encompasses.
- (2) It is imperative that a consistent approach be taken to assess the reliability/performance impact of all DOE anomalies to support decisions in a resource-constrained environment. This drives a need for clear and thorough documentation of the DOE weapon reliability definition.
- (3) Because of these resource constraints, the community may choose to tolerate anomalies in the stockpile rather than fix them. When resources were more plentiful, reliability assessments based on limited information were considered acceptable in the decision process in some cases since the fixes could be done immediately. As resources are further constrained the reliability assessment is likely to become a more significant factor in deciding whether or not to fix the problem. Thus it will be increasingly important to have an accurate initial assessment of an anomaly, as well as a process for on-going data collection and reliability updates.
- (4) There is increased use of the word "reliability", with various meanings, in today's world. Programs such as Enhanced Surveillance are intended to complement the core surveillance program, but they often define reliability quite differently in order to reflect the objectives and scope of the specific program. For example, Enhanced Surveillance is often addressing "materials reliability". Generally materials reliability is defined as the probability that a material or part meets a certain specification; this metric typically cannot be directly related to success or failure of a weapon subsystem or system. A clear understanding of what information is needed to perform weapon-level reliability analyses is essential for proper interpretation and integration of data and models obtained through Enhanced Surveillance and other reliability-related activities.
- (5) Because of the Comprehensive Test Ban Treaty, there is increased concern and scrutiny by DoD regarding the credibility of nuclear package performance assessments (reliability and yield). A consistent assessment and reporting process is needed that will instill and maintain confidence in DOE assessments. Any perception that known anomalies have not been

assessed, or that reliability impacts are assessed without substantive engineering analysis, erodes credibility in current assessments and historical studies.

The above issues highlight a need to clarify the long-standing definition for today's weapon community, both inside and outside of Sandia. Because reliability assessment is a joint process between the nuclear labs, DoD, and DOE, continued communication and education is vital to ensure that weapons are assessed consistently and accurately.

Note that the DOE weapon reliability assessment methodology is discussed in this paper only to the extent that it clarifies the definition. The "Nuclear Weapon Reliability Evaluation Methodology Guide"<sup>1</sup> provides a complete description of the details of the methodology used by the DOE nuclear laboratories to assess the reliability of nuclear weapons. Note also that in this paper, the word "component" will be used to denote Major Components (MCs) rather than discrete piece-parts.

## Scope

Nuclear weapons are designed with multiple objectives, including safety, security, and reliability. Reliability focuses on the ability of the weapon to perform its intended function at the intended time under environments considered to be normal. If the weapon is exposed to abnormal environments, there is no longer an expectation or requirement that it perform its intended function at the intended time. Safety analyses address the ability of the weapon to prevent unintended function in either normal or abnormal environments. Security analyses gauge the ability of the weapon to prevent unauthorized use in normal (and some types of abnormal) environments. These objectives are different, and they are analyzed separately. This white paper focuses exclusively on reliability and how it is defined for DOE nuclear weapons. Note though that the objectives of achieving both high reliability (function when intended) and safety/security (won't function if not intended) tend to be conflicting and require careful balancing in actual design and implementation.

## **DOE Weapon Reliability Definition History and Background**

The overarching goal of the DOE weapon reliability assessment process is to provide a quantitative metric that reflects the ability of the weapons to perform their intended function successfully. The general approach to stockpile assessment that has been agreed to by the joint reliability working groups on the various weapon systems is presented in the vugraphs shown in Appendix A. These concepts have been presented in the past few years to DOE Headquarters, the CINCSTRAT Strategic Advisory Group (SAG), the Nuclear Weapon Council Standing and Safety Committee (NWCSSC) Requirements Working Group, and USSTRATCOM. The documents on which these vugraphs are based are not new; for example, "Reliability Technology, a Manual for Nuclear Ordnance Engineers" is dated 1960. In fact, all of the historical documents on which we rely have similar definitions. The words may be slightly different, but the underlying factors to be considered are the same. The most concise way of summarizing the definition that has been used historically is as follows:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "Nuclear Weapon Reliability Evaluation Methodology Guide", D.L. Wright, editor, July 1993.

The probability of achieving the specified yield, at the target, across the Stockpile-To-Target Sequence of environments, throughout the weapon's lifetime, assuming proper inputs.

This definition is the foundation for the balance of this paper. It is also the foundation for the reliability definition contained in the DOE Weapons Reliability Report, which has been expanded to further explain nuclear weapon unique circumstances. The full definition extracted from the May 1998 DOE report is contained in Appendix B.

The DOE weapon reliability definition and assessment methodology were carefully constructed to integrate appropriately into the larger weapon system assessment and planning process. The integration of DOE weapon reliability occurs in the calculation of Damage Expectancy (DE) performed by USSTRATCOM, which addresses the end-to-end mission and includes the complete complement of DOE and DoD hardware and DoD operational procedures used to execute the mission. The first vugraph in Appendix C illustrates the four major terms in the DE calculation: Prelaunch Survivability, Weapon System Reliability (WSR), Probability to Penetrate, and Probability of Damage (PD). These terms are all conditional probabilities - e.g., Weapon System Reliability is calculated assuming a successful prelaunch. Probability of Damage is a function of discrete variables including yield, accuracy (both Height of Burst and Circular Error Probable), and target hardness, and it assumes the yield and accuracy values have been achieved. DOE weapon reliability is part of the WSR term; all DOE material performance information for DE is thus captured in the WSR and PD terms. The second vugraph in Appendix C shows what functions are included in the DOE weapon reliability assessment by weapon system type. The relationship between DOE weapon reliability and Probability of Damage will be discussed in more detail later, particularly with respect to yield and accuracy.

## The Elements of the DOE Weapon Reliability Definition

Appendix D lists nine literature sources addressing the general definition of reliability. All are consistent with the DOE weapon reliability definition. For example, the definition from Reference 1 states:

"The reliability of an item is the probability that it will adequately perform its specified purpose for a specified period of time under specified environmental conditions."

Review of these literature sources shows five important elements of all reliability definitions:

- 1. the probability measure
- 2. the item of interest
- 3. the meaning of success (or failure)
- 4. the environment to which the item is going to be exposed
- 5. the appropriate time frame

It is helpful here to note how these five academic elements are realized in the DOE definition of reliability:

- 1. Probability measure = realistic lower bound on the probability of success
- 2. Item of interest = DOE-designed hardware
- 3. Success = achieving the specified yield at the target
- 4. Environment = across the Stockpile to Target Sequence (STS) environments, assuming proper inputs
- 5. Timeframe = throughout the weapon's lifetime

Controversies have arisen periodically in the DOE and DoD communities over the inclusion of one or more of the concepts contained in the DOE weapon reliability definition. Review of these controversies in the context of the fundamental elements above shows that the real problem is not in the basic definition of reliability but in its interpretation during evaluation of specific anomalies. Poor understanding of, for example:

- who is responsible for the item of interest
- how success and failure are defined
- what the applicable environments are
- what the time frame associated with the assessment is

has led to controversy and confusion in specific nuclear weapon anomaly evaluations in the past. Therefore, several relevant historical and hypothetical examples are discussed below to clarify how the elements of the DOE definition are applied to appropriately assess various types of weapon anomalies.

#### Probability Measure = Realistic Lower Bound on the Probability of Success

One objective during the design and development process for nuclear weapons is to design to worst-case conditions and to make the weapons' performance (and hence reliability) independent of the environments to which they will be exposed over their required lifetime. It is desired, for example, that weapons operated at hot or cold temperatures (within the STS) will be just as reliable as those operated under nominal conditions. Furthermore, it is desired that the weapons' reliability be invariant with age during the required lifetime, either in terms of years or in terms of environmental or operational cycles. In reality, the weapons may actually have a range of reliabilities depending upon operating conditions, storage conditions, age, mode of usage, etc. Some conditions are not typically controllable by the user at any given point in time, such as operating temperatures and weapon age. Therefore, in general a nuclear weapon reliability assessment is a realistic lower bound best estimate of the probability of success over the entire range of environmental and lifetime conditions specified in the STS. Other conditions are within the immediate control of the user, and a separate reliability can be estimated for each. Typical examples of this can include reporting separate reliability assessments for each fuzing option of the weapon, or reporting a separate reliability assessment for weapon use against hard irregular targets. The issue of determining a realistic lower bound for reliability will be discussed in more detail in the sections on environments and lifetime.

#### Item of Interest = DOE-Designed Hardware

In general, the DOE is responsible for assessing the performance attributes for all DOE-designed hardware. Note that in certain cases the DOE assessment boundaries are extended to include non-DOE hardware, software, or procedures by joint agreement with the DoD. For most anomalies involving DOE hardware, the approach is straightforward and can be handled using the standard DOE weapon reliability assessment metric and methodology. However, in some instances there are synergistic effects or unusual or ambiguous consequences of the anomaly within the overall system. In these cases, the DOE may need to negotiate with the DoD to address the anomaly in the most useful manner in the DE calculation. The DOE has the responsibility to ensure that the questions below are answered. Communication is essential to arrive at an optimal approach and to ensure that all users of the information are aware of how the anomalies are addressed.

The issues are:

- A. What agency should lead the assessment of the anomaly? What other agencies, if any, should be involved in the assessment?
- B. What metric is the most useful to the DoD for targeting and using the weapons (DOE weapon reliability, Probability of Damage, etc.)?
- C. Is the anomaly accounted for "once and only once" in the overall joint DOE/DoD Damage Expectancy model<sup>2</sup>?
- D. Where will the impact be reported? How will it be reported?
- E. How will the impact assessment be updated over time? Who is responsible for updating it?

These questions should be answered as early as possible in the course of the investigation of the anomaly to ensure that all relevant technical resources are identified and that there is a clear, credible, and timely reporting process within and outside of the DOE. Documentation of the data and the applied judgment and analysis is always critical, as is a thorough peer review process.

#### Success = Achieving the Specified Yield at the Target

The discussion of success will begin with general commentary followed by specific issues surrounding yield and target.

#### Success: General Comments

The purpose of a nuclear weapon is to effectively damage the intended target. It will be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Note that some anomalies may manifest themselves in multiple locations in the weapon (e.g., solder joint failures). Their cumulative reliability impact should be determined and included in the model. The concern expressed here is that a given anomaly may be included in both the DOE and DoD portions of the model, essentially double-counting the impact. Alternatively, it may not be included in either. Both of these are to be avoided.

successful if the specified yield is achieved at the target. Success can only occur in a small subset of the multi-dimensional time/location/condition space. This is shown in Figure 1 for the example of a bomb. Similar modes of behavior are defined for warheads.



RELIABILITY = 1 - UNRELIABILITY = 1 - { P(Premature) + P(Abort) + P(Flare Dud) + P(Dud) }

Figure 1: Modes of Weapon Behavior

Figure 1 illustrates the possible modes of weapon performance which are considered in reliability studies in determining the probability of weapon success:

Premature: An unintended nuclear detonation that occurs in the normal environment prior to safe separation from the carrier.

Abort: Cancellation of use of the weapon, after it is committed to the mission, due to evidence that it would result in a failure.

Flare dud: An early nuclear detonation after safe separation that results in reduced (ineffective) target damage.

Success: Proper detonation with specified yield inside the desired envelope of space (at the target).

Dud: Weapon failure to provide the prescribed function at the proper time, given proper inputs at the time of release/launch or during flight. This can include no/improper or low yield detonation at the target, detonation occurring after the weapon has passed through the desired envelope of space, or detonation occurring to one side of the desired space, due to weapon failure.

As shown in Figure 1, reliability is typically calculated by subtracting the probabilities of nonsuccessful performance (failure) from unity:

#### Reliability = $1 - \{P(Premature) + P(Abort) + P(Flare Dud) + P(Dud)\}.$

These general modes of behavior are a collection of all of the weapon contributors to the DE. The weapon may have other functional requirements that contribute to neither the basic weapon intended use nor to the DE. For example, Command Disable (CD) features are required on some weapon systems, and they have separate reliability requirements. Reliability of the CD is the probability of successfully disabling the weapon given the proper command, and premature of the CD is inadvertent disablement in the absence of the command. Premature disablement can result in either a weapon abort or weapon dud and these failure modes are included in the weapon unreliability assessment. However, failure modes that impact the CD reliability rarely affect the weapon's ability to achieve intended yield at the target and thus typically are not contributors to the DOE weapon unreliability assessment.

Included in the description of weapon behaviors is the concept that the weapon must be adequately accurate and provide the specified yield in order to be considered "effective" in damaging the target. Accuracy and yield requirements for weapons are generated by considering the entire set of intended targets and the damage desired, and are defined as discrete quantities with associated error bounds. DOE weapon reliability is an estimate of the probability of proper detonation within these general accuracy and yield requirements. The Probability of Damage term is in essence a conditional probability that estimates, given that the general yield and accuracy requirements are met, what probability of damage is expected for a given target. The Probability of Damage calculation is made with the actual best estimates of expected accuracy (Height of Burst, Circular Error Probable) and yield.

The determination of DOE weapon reliability is made difficult by the fact that fully realistic tests cannot be performed; there are no opportunities to measure both yield and accuracy against a real target. Ideally, target-specific requirements for weapon accuracy and yield could be defined such that fully realistic system test results could be classified unambiguously as either effective or ineffective for the given target (which corresponds to success or failure in the DOE weapon reliability calculation). In reality, formal DOE weapon reliability requirements are specified more generally, as a success probability desired for the overall weapon population without specification of target. Success or failure must be inferred from the test results since there often is not a direct observation of accuracy (e.g., for component-level tests) and currently no direct observations of yield. This inference process starts with the reliability requirements for nuclear weapon hardware designed and produced by the DOE that are contained in the Military Characteristics document, which may also provide a top-level description of success/failure. In order to assess reliability, the Military Characteristics must be further interpreted to be consistently and accurately applied, by both reliability engineers and designers. Usable criteria for success/failure are derived from the design definition drawing package, control drawings, product specifications, and the interface control drawings between the DOE and the DoD. The component level product specification even includes definition of the tests to be conducted and the criteria for acceptance or rejection (i.e., success or failure) of the component. This allows for a reliability assessment of the stockpile based on data taken from a wide variety of tests.

The fact that the Military Characteristics reliability requirements are defined without specification of a target combined with the ambiguity introduced because of the need to infer success/failure means that there is no longer a clear-cut connection between the yield and

- 12 -

1.7-

accuracy requirements and weapon effectiveness against a given target. This results in three regimes, as shown in Figure 2. Effectiveness is shown notionally as a function of different yield and accuracy combinations.



Figure 2: Effectiveness Regimes

For some combinations of yield and accuracy (Regime I), the weapon is considered effective for all targets for which it was designed (success). For other (anomalous) combinations (Regime III), the weapon is considered ineffective for all targets for which it was designed (failure). These regimes lend themselves easily to analysis in the DOE weapon reliability context. Between these two regimes, however, lies a third: a regime where the weapon may still be considered effective under specific conditions (e.g., against certain of its targets). Reliability may not be the best way of reflecting the anomalous behavior in these cases. The nature of an anomaly (e.g., which regime it falls in) and the magnitude of its assessed impact determine the best way to include the effect in the DE (i.e., DOE weapon reliability vs. Probability of Damage). This will be discussed in further detail below for both yield and accuracy. Ensuring complete and consistent evaluation of anomalies can require extensive communication between DOE and DoD. This historically has been the responsibility of the joint reliability working groups, whose members collectively have responsibility for providing all the weapon information required for USSTRATCOM to be able to calculate Damage Expectancy.

#### Success: "...at the target ...."

There are two aspects to "at the target" for DOE weapon reliability. The first takes a broad view of weapon failure; i.e. does the weapon fail to function in the effective vicinity of the target? This addresses situations where the weapon fails to function or functions correctly but at a distance so far from the target that it is ineffective. This is a Regime III situation, and the cause of the weapon failure should be accounted for in the DOE weapon reliability term.

The second aspect of "at the target" is a narrower view focused on the ability of the weapon to detonate at exactly the right place. When thinking about "at the target" in this narrower sense, we generally use the term accuracy. Accuracy is defined in the context of a window of space, encompassing both distance from the target, Circular Error Probable (CEP) and Height of Burst (HOB). The weapon must detonate within this window of space to achieve the desired damage. When a weapon functions close to the target (but not "at the target"), the means of including the

anomaly in the DE term can vary depending on the circumstances since the weapon may still be effective against some targets (Regime II).

The DoD approach to the CEP calculation is to exclude any subset of weapon systems that miss the target by unusually large distances and assess their behavior separately as weapon system reliability failures. The cause of these failures is generally different from the factors that cause the normal miss distances. Including these data in the CEP calculation could significantly distort the estimates of Probability of Damage. The DOE assessment approach is consistent with the DoD's — that is, weapon component anomalies that result in large miss distances are included in the DOE weapon reliability assessment. A historical case of radar premature failure provides an example. An unanticipated radar defect (caused by particles in a transistor) caused the system to prematurely fire, resulting in a HOB much higher than considered acceptable for the system. This defect was assessed in the reliability model as a system flare dud and required a new radar premature failure event to be defined. This allowed the DoD to continue to calculate a very accurate HOB and still appropriately address a defect that can cause significant burst height inaccuracies in a small fraction of the stockpile. This example, and other accuracy related examples, have been the subjects of discussion at the appropriate weapon reliability working group meetings, to ensure the reliability community understands and agrees to how the defect is being assessed.

It is impossible to predict what other anomalies related to accuracy we will need to address in the future. The reliability working groups — Quality Assurance and Reliability Subcommittee (QARSC) for the Navy and Safety and Reliability (S&R) subgroups for the Air Force — are formal, joint, well-established forums that have and can continue to address such surprises on a case-by-case basis. Two distinct cases are discussed below, to illustrate some general criteria to be considered for such anomalies.

## Case 1: Accuracy Degradation (vs. Catastrophic Miss) Due to DOE Hardware Anomalies

In Regimes I and III, test outcomes can be classified as either success or failure. A difficulty is encountered when a system demonstrates degraded accuracy but not out-and-out failure (Regime II). The degradation may be such that the weapon is still considered effective and usable against certain targets but doesn't meet the fuze accuracy requirements. In this case accuracy impacts may best be captured via the DoD Probability of Damage metric (through changes in either HOB or CEP) rather than the DOE weapon reliability term, even though the source of the problem may be due to DOE hardware. An example of this might be a single-event upset anomaly that causes a programmer memory bit to change state, resulting in a modest degradation to HOB. Because weapons with this anomaly might still be considered usable, it would be more appropriate to change the HOB (and hence Probability of Damage) rather than reducing the overall system reliability. In effect, the requirement against which the reliability function is judged is changed and must be thoroughly documented. In general, catastrophic accuracy problems due to DOE hardware anomalies are best reported through DOE weapon reliability, while degradations that still allow for effective functioning are best reported through Probability of Damage.

#### Case 2: Accuracy Anomaly Due to Combined DOE and DoD Hardware

There can arise circumstances where quantification of the anomaly impact may require consideration of both DOE and DoD hardware, even though the root cause is DOE hardware. While the probability of a particular DOE phenomenon may be easily calculated, the conditional probability (probability of system failure given occurrence of the phenomenon) may be a very complicated problem requiring analysis of the synergistic effects of DOE and DoD hardware. An example of this might be electrical noise generated by SNL-designed firing set charging circuitry that affects the DoD contractor-designed guidance control for a cruise missile. These situations must be worked jointly between the DoD and DOE on a case-by-case basis to identify the appropriate DE term to capture the impact of the anomaly, any key conditional probabilities, and the agencies best positioned to quantify them.

These cases do not cover the range of ambiguous situations that may arise due to accuracy anomalies. However, in every instance it is important to keep in mind the overall goal of providing a quantitative metric that reflects the ability of the weapons to perform their intended function irrespective of where the problem occurs. Anomalies must be accounted for once and only once in the overall DOE/DoD model.

Due to ambiguous documentation, there has been confusion as to whether accuracy-related anomalies have always been considered in DOE weapon reliability assessments. Beginning in March of 1971 a definition of reliability was included in the DOE Weapons Reliability Report. This definition did not explicitly include "at the target" even though the actual reliability models included certain accuracy-related failure events. The definition did include the phrase "in use" which could be interpreted to imply "at the target". A more explicit definition was included in the report published in November of 1996, which did specify "at the target". However, this clarification was interpreted by some to be a change in policy and led some members of the weapons community to believe that reliability impacts due to accuracy had not been included previously. However, all historical material (including the DOE-approved "Nuclear Weapon Reliability Evaluation Methodology Guide") indicates that the reliability definition, as well as the actual models, includes certain accuracy-related events. A list of these failure events for weapons currently in the stockpile is shown in Appendix E.

#### Success: "...achieving the specified yield ... "

"Achieving the specified yield" has historically been understood to mean nominal yield with an allowable variability of ten percent, although other ranges may be specified. In some instances, a separate requirement for the probability of exceeding the specified yield may be defined. As discussed earlier, yield, like accuracy, is an inherent part of DOE weapon reliability: if the weapon detonates at the target with such reduced yield that it is ineffective against the target, then it is a weapon failure. Determining whether a yield anomaly is better accounted for in the DOE weapon reliability term or the Probability of Damage term depends on the specific circumstances. A hypothetical example might be gaps in the nuclear package that cause a 20% reduction of the yield for the affected units. This could be accounted for in the Probability of Damage if a set of required targets is still held at risk with the decreased expected yield. As with the accuracy example above, the requirement for success against which the reliability function is judged is in essence changed for these units and must be thoroughly documented. An example

for which reliability might be a better metric is catastrophic failure of a gas transfer system (GTS) to function, resulting in an ineffective yield. The probability of failure of the GTS would be a part of the DOE weapon reliability metric, which in turn is included in the Weapon System Reliability. The same rule of thumb is applicable for yield as for accuracy: catastrophic degradations in yield are best handled via DOE weapon reliability, while degradations, if still effective, should be considered as part of the Probability of Damage calculation. Again, anomalies must be accounted for once and only once in the overall DOE/DoD model.

Note that the more understanding there is of the anomaly and its consequences, the more likely it is that a clear determination can be made of the weapon's effectiveness under various scenarios, which in turn gives USSTRATCOM more latitude in defining valid SIOP alternatives. Lack of knowledge might drive the community to consider an ill-understood degradation as a catastrophic failure, even though in some circumstances and for some targets the weapons might still be effective.

#### Environment = Across the STS Environments, Assuming Proper Inputs

The discussion about environment will focus first on the STS environments followed by a discussion about proper inputs.

#### Environment: "... across the STS environments ... "

One of the important elements of the definition of reliability is the set of environments to be considered. Nuclear weapons have specified environments they must survive and still be capable of successful operation. These are the normal environments of the Stockpile to Target Sequence (STS), and it is assumed that they are not exceeded. It is impossible to quantify the probabilities of weapons being exposed to various combinations of environments or the amount of time they may be exposed to these environments over the entire lifetime of the weapons. Even if this environmental characterization were possible, there is not enough data available to quantify the probability of weapon success as a function of these environmental conditions. Finally, it is generally not possible to select or control the environmental conditions present in the event of actual operational use. Thus we make a bounding assumption that weapons may be exposed to any of the set of conditions up to and including the extremes of the STS sometime during storage or operational use. The probability of success may be different depending on the environments to which the weapons have been exposed. The DOE reliability reflects a realistic lower bound of the probability of success no matter what the environmental conditions are, as long as they are within the envelope of the normal STS environments. Note that the worst case environments may not necessarily be at the extremes of the STS. The lower bound of the probability of success is used even if some of those environmental conditions are considered less likely than others or are mutually exclusive. For example, test data may indicate the lower bound of reliability for a weapon's firing set occurs at high temperature while the lower bound for its programmer occurs at low temperature. Each of these lower bounds is used in the reliability estimate for the weapon. This helps ensure that the assessment is a conservative point estimate across all possible sets of environments as specified by the STS. This approach is necessary since the conditions often cannot be controlled by the user. One practical consequence of this assumption is that, in order to make statements applicable over the range of STS environments, it is necessary to conduct tests that sufficiently envelope those same environments.

#### Environment: "... assuming proper inputs..."

For DOE hardware to operate successfully, certain pre-arming signals and information may be provided by the DoD to the DOE weapon. The reliability evaluation of the DOE weapon assumes these supplied inputs are present and correct. Additionally, certain required position and inertial conditions are dependent upon the delivery vehicle performance (missile or aircraft); these are also assumed to be proper. Failure to receive these inputs indicates a failure in DoD operations or hardware, which is assessed in other DE terms. Being able to determine the cause of a system test anomaly is critical to the fidelity of the overall nuclear weapon DE calculation. Accounting for an anomaly in an inappropriate term in DE (or even within Weapon Reliability) or mistakenly assuming that a problem affects the entire stockpile when it only affects a subpopulation can significantly impact the DE estimate. All test configurations have limitations in their capability to identify the root cause of failure, to widely varying degrees. For example, the uninstrumented flight test program, which intentionally precludes inclusion of monitors to provide the most realistic test possible, can result in an inability to determine where in the overall DOE/DoD system an anomaly occurred. Careful tradeoffs must be made between the relative value of a test configuration and its ability to provide useful reliability and diagnostic information when determining the allocation of test assets.

#### Timeframe = Throughout the Weapon's Lifetime

Including lifetime as a factor in the reliability definition has both historical and practical bases. As mentioned earlier, academic definitions always include consideration of a specified time period (typically operational life). For nuclear weapons, the operational times are short but the dormant storage times can be very long and this is often the timeframe of concern. One can also think of lifetime not in terms of years but in terms of environmental or operational cycles or exposures. Decisions about how to address identified component aging phenomenon are implicitly affected by what is considered to be the weapon lifetime. Using reliability as a planning tool for addressing aging phenomena is meaningless without an a priori definition of lifetime. In this section, "weapon lifetime" is defined as the original lifetime objective as specified at the time of design. The current enduring stockpile weapons either have, or will eventually, exceed their weapon lifetimes based on current Production and Planning Directive projections. What implications does this have for the reliability definition, and in fact what has the weapon lifetime statement traditionally meant?

Inherent in the statement of "throughout the weapon's lifetime" is that we are projecting reliability through the end of life. That is, based on our knowledge today, we believe that the reliability assessment that we give now will be valid in one year, two years, five years, etc. until the end of the weapon lifetime. In cases where there are known component aging problems with a well-characterized failure rate, we provide for a Limited Life Component Exchange such that weapon performance (and hence reliability) is not affected by that particular component up through end of the weapon lifetime.

In the past our ability to project reliability assessments into the future has been primarily based on design and qualification activities. During the weapon design process, certain specialized parts and materials are selected on the basis of expected stability throughout the weapon lifetime (e.g., o-rings, lubricants), although generally speaking designers do not design electronics to meet

1. ...

a given lifetime. Components are validated for a certain weapon lifetime through a qualification test program. This includes accelerated aging as well as product acceptance Environmental and Destructive (E- and D-) tests featuring operation at one or more environmental extremes (temperature cycling, vibration, etc.). The number of temperature cycles and the type of mechanical tests are to some degree determined by considerations of weapon lifetime. Conversely, weapon lifetime can be thought of in terms of the number of cycles for which a component has been qualified. The qualification process is our avenue for attempting to identify time-dependent phenomena that might cause the reliability to change as a function of time or environmental cycles. Component failures detected during the course of environmental cycling are included in the assessment in order to estimate the component reliability at the end of the weapon lifetime. This reliability assessment is considered to be a realistic lower bound throughout the weapon lifetime.

Because we recognize that we may not be able to predict all time-dependent failure mechanisms, we have an on-going stockpile surveillance test program to continue to look for unknown aging problems. We cannot eliminate the risk of aging, but we can mitigate it by continuing to search for defects over the weapon lifetime. When unanticipated aging anomalies are detected, the ideal approach is to characterize how component performance (and reliability) changes with time. As long as this aging phenomenon affects the stockpile, the current reliability of the component is tracked through periodic updates. When it is impossible to explicitly quantify reliability as a function of time or number of exposures, an estimate is made of the reliability of the component at the end of its life for use as a bound. In such cases we do not calculate or report weapon reliability as a function of time, but may include snapshot assessments for specific components.

While in recent years design and qualification have been the foundations of making weapon lifetime statements, it is acknowledged that some older weapon systems lacked formal lifetime goals. Even for those with lifetime goals, designers were constrained by the knowledge and components of their era and were not necessarily able to assure that weapon lifetime goals would be met. Weapon systems have rarely been in the field for their entire specified life, restricting the amount of relevant data we have been able to obtain on component lifetime-limiting aging mechanisms. In general, it is recognized that projective reliability (assessments that are projected into the future) are not founded on complete knowledge, necessitating an on-going test program. This has sometimes led to the misconception that the DOE weapon reliability assessments are "only good until the next test (or the next periodic assessment) — why else do we need to continue testing?" In actuality, the design and qualification processes lay the foundation for predicting that the current assessment will be applicable until the end of the weapon life. The on-going testing looks for deviations from the qualified design predictions and helps provide improved estimates of known aging mechanisms.

This approach to reliability is different from much of industry but vital to how we have historically implemented stockpile stewardship. It is made possible by the engineering processes that we use to design, produce, test, and maintain nuclear weapons throughout their lives. Key elements of this process are formal qualification, extensive product acceptance testing, planned limited life component exchanges, and an on-going surveillance program. As weapon lifetimes are exceeded, the test data collected early in the life of the weapon may have less relevance. New Material and Stockpile lab tests serve primarily a status monitoring role and may not be the best indicators of aging. Increased uncertainty in the reliability assessment is expected as the weapon lifetime is extended because of dormant storage aging as well as the potential for additional environmental cycles or exposures (or numbers of operations in some cases) beyond those originally anticipated. Because of the increasing potential for unexpected aging problems, the Sandia reliability assessment community cannot support assessments that are projected into the future indefinitely beyond the weapon lifetime. This is the second common misconception related to applicable timeframe of nuclear weapon reliability assessments: that since the definition states "throughout the lifetime", current reliability assessments can be assumed to continue to apply as the DoD extends the planned stockpile life ever further beyond the original weapon lifetime.

As weapon lifetimes are exceeded, we face a new paradigm in reliability assessment and the underlying engineering processes that support it. A new approach must be formulated to provide a reasonable and substantiated timeframe over which reliability assessments can be projected for planning and stockpile management purposes. Several elements are already in place, such as the Core and Enhanced Surveillance programs, although some of them may need expansion or change in focus. Others, such as modeling and simulation and trends analysis, will also need to be integrated into the overall approach to create a robust set of engineering processes to support future reliability assessments for the enduring stockpile.

## **Estimating Uncertainty**

While not directly related to the definition of reliability, uncertainty has long been a focal point of discussion and debate in the nuclear weapon reliability community. Two aspects of uncertainty are discussed below. The first is the uncertainty in reliability assessments due to limitations in the amount of data obtained through the suite of tests that are performed over the lifetime of the weapon. Although statistical methods could be used to quantify this type of uncertainty, it generally has not been done for DOE nuclear weapon assessments. This will be discussed in more detail below.

The second aspect is that of the uncertainty due to the failure to gather sufficient amounts of relevant recent test data on a potentially changing product (e.g., via aging). This is referred to as defect detection uncertainty. Note that this uncertainty underscores the relationship between the reliability assessment process and the engineering processes that support it. An on-going test program is the foundation for finding new or changing problems in the stockpile that affect the assessed reliability. Inadequate recent testing (in terms of either quantity of tests or the defect detection capability of the tests) results in an inability to detect these defects. The goal of reporting uncertainty is to provide a decision-making and communication tool to the DOE and DoD to aid in using the reliability information given the nature and degree of the test shortfalls.

Both of these aspects of uncertainty should be differentiated from the long-standing use of confidence limits with respect to surveillance sample sizing policy. The current DOE nuclear weapon surveillance program sizing policy is commonly described as "90/90/2". The policy is to select enough samples to detect a 10% problem with 90% confidence in a two-year period and equates to eleven samples per year for sufficiently large populations. Such a statistical statement carries with it numerous underlying assumptions about the sampling process (random with replacement), the population being sampled (homogeneous and unchanging with time), and the means of detecting problems (all tests are equally capable of detecting the anomalies present in

the population). Experience has shown that these assumptions are not entirely valid for the DOE nuclear weapon surveillance program. The "90/90/2" statement defines the surveillance sample size and has been shown to be an effective policy. It is, however, inappropriate to consider the 90/90/2 nuclear weapon surveillance sizing statement as providing a confidence limit on the reliability assessment; the "90/90/2" statement only describes a <u>theoretical</u> defect detection capability in the absence of the constraints and realities of the nuclear weapon program.

#### **Reliability and Confidence Limits**

In the early days of the stockpile evaluation program, both a reliability number (based primarily on lab test results through the end of production) and a statistical confidence limit (based strictly on quantities of a single type of stockpile laboratory test) were reported<sup>3</sup>. The mid-sixties brought recognition of the importance of a diversified testing program in detecting defects and the role of engineering judgment in determining what data are relevant. Test program diversification greatly enhanced our ability to detect stockpile defects but also increased the challenge of assessment because of the need to combine data obtained from widely varying sources and taken under a variety of conditions. We also ended the practice of calculating and reporting confidence limits at this time. To quote from the 1980 Stanley Love report, "Although experience had shown that test data from various sources can be combined meaningfully, it was decided that system reliability would be reported without confidence intervals. No sound statistical approach exists for measuring uncertainties associated with the subjective combining of data; confidence limits could only be a measure of sampling variability, and it was considered desirable to avoid implying that uncertainties in judgments had also been measured." Love also notes, "... misunderstandings were being created by providing DoD with two sets of numbers to describe stockpile quality, that is, figures describing individual systems reliability that were included in the final weapon development reports but were changed only if test results warranted, and statistical confidence limits attached to periodic functionability statements issued by QASL [Ouality Assurance, Sandia Laboratory]."

Requests to provide confidence limits on nuclear weapon reliability assessments resurface periodically; however, the preceding counter-arguments remain valid. While confidence limits can help gauge the amount of data supporting an assessment value, they may not include other potentially large sources of uncertainty; hence they can be very misleading. The issue of confidence limits was most recently examined in 1996, when the Nuclear Weapon Requirements Working Group (NWRWG) recommended that USSTRATCOM review their need for error bars or confidence limits for DOE weapon reliability numbers. In a series of interchanges between the NWRWG, USSTRATCOM, DOE, and Sandia, the DoD community reached accord yet again on the current policy of not requiring or desiring confidence limits<sup>4</sup>.

#### **Reliability and Defect Detection Uncertainty**

While an overarching statement of statistical confidence for reliability assessments is not

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Love, Stanley L., "A History of Stockpile Quality Assurance at Sandia Laboratories", SAND79-0696, February 1980.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "Draft NWRWG Memorandum for the Record (MFR)", June 4, 1997 Meeting of the Nuclear Weapons Requirements Working Group (NWRWG), dated July 14, 1997.

merited, there are factors that dictate other forms of uncertainty statements. As discussed earlier in the time frame section, adequate recent test data are needed to substantiate the continued validity of reliability assessments based mostly on tests performed early in the life of the weapon. Inadequate on-going testing, in terms of both test diversification and total numbers in a recent time span, increase the risk of undetected, potentially worsening defects in the stockpile. This is an additional source of uncertainty in the DOE weapon reliability assessment.

As far back as 1967, reliability has been withheld for weapon systems in the DOE Weapons Reliability Report (WRR) due to gaps in stockpile surveillance system or component testing. In 1974, testing limitations began to be specifically addressed in the WRR on a weapon-by-weapon basis. In 1984, a policy appears to have been formalized such that two-year gaps in system testing (both lab and flight) would result in reliability being withheld. For weapons with reduced testing, increased uncertainty in the reliability assessment was noted. In 1989, the first instance of withholding reliability due to component test gaps occurred (note however that this was triggered by a specific anomaly about which inadequate information existed to make an assessment). In 1991, an explicit policy of withholding reliability for weapons without flight tests in the past three years was adopted by DOE/AL and documented in the DOE Weapons Reliability Report. This was modified to a two-year gap in 1992. Also in 1992, increased uncertainty due to a component test gap was first reported. Since that time component test gaps of three years or more have resulted in the reporting of increased uncertainty<sup>5</sup>.

While the policy of withholding reliability made the customer aware of the test gap, it did not effectively convey the degree of concern, nor did it provide the needed reliability information for USSTRATCOM's on-going targeting responsibility. Withholding the reliability assessment clearly expresses our concern that reliability changes could be going undetected during the lapse of testing. However, this approach does nothing to convey the level of uncertainty and does not convey our known best estimate of the reliability.

The most recent advance in this area has been to define a new defect detection uncertainty metric to be reported in addition to the reliability estimate. The intent of this uncertainty metric is to measure the potential for new defects to go undetected in a specified time frame (both aging defects and those newly introduced). The metric quantifies the decrease in defect detection capability and can be calculated separately for reductions in the system or component test programs. It is not intended to be a substitute for the reliability assessment value; rather, it provides a proactive tool for timely coordination and decision-making internally and with the DoD. Test resources have become increasingly constrained over the past ten years for both DOE and DoD, and both face shortfalls in test assets and surveillance program funding. Coordination between DOE, USSTRATCOM, and the Air Force and Navy Nuclear Weapon Commands to develop a consistent approach for characterizing and reporting uncertainty would aid balanced prioritization and decision-making at the weapon system level.

The goal of the uncertainty statement or metric is to provide as much information as possible to the DOE and DoD users while conveying to them the potential for undetected defects due to lack

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> For a detailed account of the history of defect detection uncertainty, see "Historic Responses to Test Shortfalls and Gaps by the Sandia Reliability Assessment Community", R.L. Bierbaum to Distribution, December 1, 1998.

of testing. The focus of uncertainty characterization in this context is to understand the potential for new defects to go undetected in a specified time frame. The emphasis is on shortages in individual test programs rather than in the test database as a whole. This recognizes the criticality of each element of the diversified test program (lab, flight, and component) in ensuring realistic reliability assessments and timely defect detection.

## Summary

DOE weapon reliability is defined as:

The probability of achieving the specified yield, at the target, across the Stockpile To Target Sequence of environments, throughout the weapon's lifetime, assuming proper inputs.

This definition contains the five elements found from a review of reliability literature sources to be necessary and sufficient for any general reliability definition:

- 1. the probability measure
- 2. the item of interest
- 3. the meaning of success
- 4. the environment to which the item may be exposed
- 5. the appropriate timeframe

Inclusion of each of these elements in the DOE weapon reliability definition is required to ensure that complete, useful, and realistic performance assessment information is used in USSTRATCOM targeting and DoD/DOE stockpile management actions.

Proper interpretation and application of this definition requires development of detailed success/failure definitions at subassembly and component levels. Some of the key principles to appropriate implementation of nuclear weapons reliability assessment include ensuring:

- adequate understanding of each stockpile defect and its system consequences
- robust, ongoing programs in diversified surveillance and engineering analysis for potential failure mechanisms, including aging and introduced changes
- a process that accounts for each defect type once and only once in the USSTRATCOM Damage Expectancy calculations

This paper provides insight into these principles by discussing real and hypothetical issues that can arise. Resolution of these issues requires a consistent methodological framework, expert engineering judgment, and ongoing, proactive communication and peer review with all DOE and DoD design and analysis counterparts. Documentation of the data and the applied judgment and analysis is an important part of the assessment process, helping lay the foundation for good communication, consistency, and proper incorporation of new information in the future.

Additional reliability-related challenges exist in the areas of reliability assessment timeframe and uncertainty. As multiple weapon types age beyond their original lifetimes, the appropriate

assessment timeframe will require careful definition and additional focused engineering analysis. The recent occurrence and high future likelihood of significant test program shortfalls compels the development of a second reliability metric, a defect detection uncertainty metric, to track the relative level of this uncertainty associated with the weapon reliability assessment.

# ACRONYM LIST

CD	Command Disable
CEP	Circular Error Probable
CINCSTRAT	Commander-in-Chief, United States Strategic Command
DE	Damage Expectancy
DoD	Department of Defense
DOE	Department of Energy
D-test	Destructive test
E-test	Environmental test
GTS	Gas transfer system
HOB	Height of Burst
MC	Major Component
MFR	Memorandum for the Record
NWCSSC	Nuclear Weapon Council Standing and Safety Committee
NWRWG	Nuclear Weapon Requirements Working Group
PD	Probability of Damage
QARSC	Quality Assurance and Reliability Subcommittee
QASL	Quality Assurance, Sandia Laboratory
SAG	Strategic Advisory Group
SIOP	Single Integrated Operational Plan
SNL	Sandia National Laboratories
S&R	Safety and Reliability
STS	Stockpile to Target Sequence
USSTRATCOM	United States Strategic Command
WRR	Weapons Reliability Report
WSR	Weapon System Reliability

• - -

## **Appendix A: Reliability Definition Charts**



Proper classification requires defining the weapon's tactical objectives.

Objectives vary from target to target.

- Parameters considered include fuzing accuracy, delivery accuracy, and safety of friendly forces which may be in the vicinity.
- Fuzing and delivery accuracy requirements are a function of weapon yield, nature of the target, damage desired, and nature of the weapon effect to be employed.
  - Required accuracies must be defined so that the burst locations can be classified as either proper or ineffective (i.e., reliability success or failure).
  - Deviations in actual accuracy and yield still considered "effective" are accounted for through revised Probability of Damage calculations.

# DOE Warhead/Bomb Reliability (1 of 2)

• Definition:

"The probability of achieving:

at least the desired yield, at the target, across the Stockpile To Target Sequence environments, throughout the weapon's lifetime".

•Conditions:

-the specified inputs and conditions at the interfaces are present.

- -the normal environments specified by the STS have not been exceeded.
- -the specified lifetime has not been exceeded.



# Reliability Assessment Methodology Overview

- Identify the potential sources of failure in the DOE hardware (failure events -- defined at the component or subsystem level).
- Define math model to relate failure events to overall system performance (yield at the target).
- Use relevant data to estimate (lifetime) failure probabilities: - Hardware representative of stockpile.
  - Conditions encompassing STS environments and realistic interfaces
  - Includes combinations of System, Subsystem, and Component level tests.
  - Requires ongoing data-source consistency reviews at component and system levels.
- Update model and assessment periodically and as new defects are discovered.
- Assure completeness, accuracy, and consistency through peer reviews.
  - Continuous internal technical reviews.
  - Periodic reviews with Sandia, LANL/LLNL, DOE, and DoD customers.



## **Appendix B: Nuclear Weapon Reliability Definition**<sup>6</sup>

"Weapon reliability is generally defined as the probability that, in use, detonation at the specified yield will occur at the target through either the primary or any backup modes of operation. This general reliability definition is tailored to address weapon-specific performance and functional requirements and is documented in the periodic assessment reports for each weapon type.

In some cases, DOE hardware performance which impacts the overall system effectiveness may more appropriately be included in the system damage expectancy calculation through other terms (e.g., delivery system assessment or probability of damage terms), rather than directly in the DOE reliability assessment term. Details may be reported through other channels.

Reliability assessments assume that specified inputs and conditions at the DOE/DoD interfaces are proper. These include all aircraft, adaption kit, or fuze input signals in all channels and specified environmental conditions. Premature detonation is considered a dud. Because of the wide spectrum of weapon deployments and potential use conditions, the reliability assessments are not restricted to nominal conditions and age. Therefore, unless otherwise stated, the reliability assessments in this report represent realistic lower bound estimates that apply over the normal environments of the Stockpile-to-Target Sequence as referenced in the latest applicable Major Assembly Release, including exceptions and limitations stated therein. These assessments are assumed applicable throughout the remaining intended stockpile life, unless otherwise specified. The intended stockpile life for each nuclear weapon type is that established in the latest issue of the Long-Range Planning Assessment/Nuclear Weapon Stockpile Memorandum. If significant age-related degradation is identified, discussion of the expected reliability degradation is included."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> May 1998 DOE Weapons Reliability Report (U), AL176.

## **Appendix C: Damage Expectancy**





## **Appendix D: Reliability Definition References**

- Leemis, Lawrence M., "Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium 1997 Tutorial Notes", page 1.
   "The reliability of an item is the probability that it will adequately perform its specified purpose for a specified period of time under specified environmental conditions."
- Healy, John D., "Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium 1997 Tutorial Notes", page 1.
   "Reliability is the probability that a device will operate successfully for a specified period of time and under specified conditions when used in the manner and for the purpose intended."
- Kapur, K.C. and Lamberson, L.R., "Reliability in Engineering Design", page 1.
   "The reliability of a system is the probability that, when operating under stated environmental conditions, the system will perform its intended function adequately for a specified interval of time."
- Bazovsky, T., "Reliability Theory and Practice", page 11.
   "Reliability is the probability of a device performing its purpose adequately for the period of time intended under the operating conditions encountered."
- Klinger, D., Nakada, Y., and Menendez, M., "AT&T Reliability Manual", page 2.
   "Reliability is the ability of an item to perform a required function under stated conditions for a stated period of time."
- 6. Breipohl, Arthur M., "Probabilistic Systems Analysis", page 47. "Reliability is the probability of success in the use environment."
- O'Connor, Patrick D. T., "Practical Reliability Engineering", page xviii.
   "Reliability: The ability of an item to perform a required function under stated conditions for a stated period of time. (British Standard 4778)"
- Lloyd, David K. and Lipow, Myron, "Reliability: Management, Methods, and Mathematics", page 20.
   "Reliability is defined as the probability of successful operation of the device in the manner and under the conditions of intended customer use."
- 9. Gryna, Frank M., editor, "Reliability Training Text", Institute of Radio Engineers, page 2. "Reliability is the probability of performing without failure a specified function under given conditions for a specified period of time. It is worthwhile to emphasize the basic elements required for an adequate definition of reliability: a. Numerical value of probability. b. Statement defining successful product performance. c. Statement defining the environment in which the equipment must operate. d. Statement of the required operating time."

•	Flare Dud			Height of Burst				Delivery	
Weapon	Sprytron	Prearm/Fire Short Circuits	Programmer/ Sequencer	Radar	Timer/ Selector	FBIA	Programmer/ Sequencer	Para- chute	Spin Motor
<b>B61</b>	J6		J6	J6,J8,K17	K4,K5		K3,K4,K13,K18	J3	J3
W62		Pi							
W76	E028Q1		E898X5	E823F	BHOHL				
W78		P7C							
W80	g, e	f							
<b>B83</b>	JPi17A		Various	JPi17B			Various	J12	J11
W87	J5.2								
W88	C28		C9	F4R1E	F1	C36			

# Appendix E: Events in Existing DOE Weapon Reliability Models Addressing "At the Target"

## Distribution

- U.S. Department of Energy Attn: E. E. Ives J. Newton J. Gazda
   P.O. Box A Germantown, MD 20874
- 13 U.S. Department of Energy Albuquerque Operations Office Attn: B. G. Twining, OOM K. Carlson, ONDP M. Baca, Dir., WSD R. Levine, WSD L. Barela, WSD C. Chambellan, WSD M. Chavez, WSD R. Chevalier, WSD L. Gage, WSD J. Garberson, WSD R. Lopez, WSD T. Tomasi, WSD R. Glass, Dir., WPD P.O. Box 5400 Albuquerque, NM 87185-5400
- U.S. Department of Energy Amarillo Area Office Attn: S. Goodrum, Area Manager P.O. Box 30030 Amarillo, TX 79120
- U.S. Department of Energy Kansas City Area Office Supervisor, Document Control Attn: T. Uko, Actg, Area Manager P.O. Box 419159 Kansas City, MO 64141-6159
- U. S. Department of Energy Technical Information Attn: Weapon Data Index P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831

- U.S. Department of Energy Oak Ridge Operations Office Central Library Attn: J. C. Hall, Manager P.O. Box 2001 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-8764
- U.S. Department of Energy Savannah River Operations Office Attn: E. Wilmot, Manager P.O. Box A Aiken, SC 29802
- Office of the Assistant to the Secretary of Defense (NCB) Room 3E1088, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301-3050
- Office of the Assistant to the Secretary of Defense (S&TR) Attn: Gary Betourne
   2900 Defense Pentagon
   Washington, DC 20301-2900
- Nuclear Weapons Council Attn: Hon. Hans Mark, D DR & E 3030 Defense, The Pentagon Washington, DC 20301-3050
- Defense Threat Reduction Agency Technical Resource Center
   6801 Telegraph Road Alexandria, VA 22310-3398
- Field Command Defense Special Weapons Agency Attn: NSOW 1680 Texas St. SE Kirtland AFB, NM 87175-5669

- Directorate for Strategic Plans and Policy (J-5)
   5116 Joint Staff Attn: NUCLEAR DIVISION The Pentagon Washington, DC 20318-5116
- Joint Staff/J-3/J-38/NOD/NOB Attn: Robert Buckmaster The Pentagon Washington, DC 20318-3000
- Commander Naval Ordnance Center Dept. of the Navy Attn: Code N723 Farragut Hall, Bldg D-323 23 Strauss Ave. Indianhead, MD 20640-5555
- Director, Strategic Systems Programs Attn: SP 28 B. Hannah
   1931 Jefferson Davis Hwy.
   Bldg CM#3
   Arlington, VA 22202
- Deputy Director, US Nuclear Command Control System Support Staff (NSS)
   Skyline 3, Suite 500
   5201 Leesburg Pike
   Falls Church, VA 22041-3202
- Commanding Officer Naval Warfare Assessment Center Attn: PA-51 P.O. Box 5000 Corona, CA 91720-5000
- Commanding Officer Naval Weapons Station Attn: Code 53 800 Seal Beach Seal Beach, CA 90740-5000

- 1 HQ AFSPACECOM/LGMW 150 Vandenberg St., Suite 1105 Peterson AFB, CO 80914-4470
- HQAFSPC/DOXN
   150 Vandenberg St., Suite 1105
   Peterson AFB, CO 80914-4250
- Air Force/XONO Attn: Dr. William Mullins 1480 Pentagon Washington, DC 20330-1480
- HQ ACC LGWN
   130 Douglas Street
   Suite 210
   Langley AFB, VA 23665-2791
- HQ ACC/XP-SAS
   204 Dodd Blvd.
   Suite 202
   Langley AFB, VA 23665-2778
- San Antonio ALC/NWCP Attn: B. Bangert
   413 North Luke Drive Kelly AFB, TX 78241-5000
- USSTRATCOM/J443 Attn: CMSgt. Bobby Neal 901 SAC Blvd. STEBA3 Offut AFB, NE 68113-6300
- 1 USSTRATCOM/J523 Attn: Cdr. P. Marshall 901 SAC Blvd. STEL135 Offut AFB, NE 68113-6500
- 1 USSTRATCOM/J533 Attn: Stan Gooch 901 SAC Blvd. STE2E9 Offut AFB, NE 68113-6500

- SA-ALC/NWI Attn: Maj. Dean Metzger/ Kay Fick/ Jerry Bowles
   1651 First Street, NE Kirtland AFB, NM 87117-5000
- Phillips Laboratory Attn: SUL
   3550 Aberdeen Ave. SE Kirtland AFB, NM 87117-5776
- 11 Los Alamos National Laboratory Report Librarian Mail Station 5000 Attn: J. Ruminer, DDESA, P945 S. Younger, NWT, A105 L. Salazar, NWT, D371B C. Mangeng, NWT, D358A D. Varley, ESAWE, C936 T. Bement, TSA-1, F600 G. Carlson, ESA-WE, C936 T. Alsbrooks, NW-SS, F630 K. Stokes, ESA-WE, C936 G. Reader, ESA-WE, C936 R. Hildner, ESA-WE, C936 L. Witt, NW-SS, F630 P.O. Box 1663 Los Alamos, NM 87545 10 University of California Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory **Technical Information Department** Attn: D.A. Nowak, L13 M.R. Anastasio, L35 G.L. Mara, L125 A.W. Lundberg, L125 W.G. Moen, L125 J.L. Robbins, L125 C.J. Anderson, L125 D.B. Longinotti, L125 J.D. Hagerty, L125 J. Tyler, L125 P.O. Box 808
  - Livermore, CA 94550

- AlliedSignal FM&T/KC Supervisor, Document Control Attn: E. Kelly P.O. Box 419159 Kansas City, MO 64141-6159
- Mason & Hanger-Silas Mason Co., Inc. Pantex Plant Mail & Records Attn: Juan Alvarez P.O. Box 30020 Amarillo, TX 79177
- Lockheed Martin Energy Systems, Inc. Y-12 Plant Records Dept, Bldg. 9711-5 Attn: J. Stout P.O. Box 2009 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-8169
- Westinghouse Savannah River Co. Savannah River Site Document Transfer Station 703-A Attn: D. L. Hayes Aiken, SC 29808
- 1 MS0101 P.C. Robinson, 1
- 1 MS0513 R.J. Eagan, 1000
- 1 MS0513 T.J. Allard, 1002
- 1 MS1427 S.T. Picraux, 1100
- Attn: MS1437 J.A. Nichelason, 1101 MS1056 B.L. Doyle, 1111 MS1415 W.B. Gauster, 1112 MS0601 J.S. Nelson, 1113 MS1413 T.A. Michalske, 1114 MS0601 J.Y. Tsao, 1126 MS1423 G.N. Hays, 1128 MS1421 G.A. Samara, 1152 MS1421 E.B. Stechel, 1153 MS1423 G.C. Osbourn, 1155
  1 MS1079 P.S. Peercy, 1300

1 MS0960 J.Q. Searcy, 1400 Attn: MS0957 S.S. Baca, 1401 MS0961 F.P. Gerstle Jr., 1403 MS0961 J.M. Harris, 1404 MS0956 P.L. Gallegos, 1412 MS0959 R.L. Poole, 1471 MS0958 C.L. Adkins, 1472 MS0561 T.M. Simpson, 1481 MS0563 P.C. McKey, 1486 MS0959 J.W. Munford, 1492 1 MS0953 W.E. Alzheimer, 1500 Attn: MS0953 J.T. Cutchen, 1501 MS0613 D.H. Doughty, 1521 MS0614 D.E. Mitchell, 1522 MS0614 R.W. Bickes Jr., 1523 MS0613 P.C. Butler, 1525 MS0665 L.J. Azevedo, 1541 MS0665 R.B. Pettit, 1542 MS0665 J.M. Simons, 1544 MS1452 J.A. Merson, 1552 MS1453 F.H. Braaten Jr., 1553 MS1454 L.L. Bonzon, 1554 MS0515 F.M. Bacon, 1561 MS0516 G.L. Laughlin, 1564 MS0521 T.J. Young, 1567 1 MS1079 A.D.Romig, 1700 Attn: MS1078 L.M. Blaich, 1701 MS1078 P.J. McWhorter, 1702 MS1071 D.R. Myers, 1703 MS0874 R.S. Blewer, 1705 MS1425 M.W. Scott, 1707 MS0603 A. Owyoung, 1710 MS0603 P. Esherick, 1711 MS0603 M.E. Warren, 1712 MS0603 T.E. Zipperian, 1713 MS1425 S.J. Martin, 1715 MS0874 D.W. Palmer, 1716 MS1077 H.T. Weaver, 1720 MS1074 R.V. Jones, 1721 MS1077 L.M. Cecchi, 1722 MS1084 J.F. Jakubczak II, 1723 MS1084 H.D. Stewart, 1724 MS1080 J.H. Smith, 1725 MS1074 P.V. Dressendorfer, 1726

MS1071 M.G. Knoll, 1730 MS0527 E.P. Royer, 1731 MS0525 T.A. Fischer, 1732 MS0523 J.O. Harris Jr., 1733 MS0525 P.V. Plunkett, 1734 MS1072 K.K. Ma, 1735 MS1073 W.J. Barnard, 1736 MS1072 F.W. Hewlett Jr., 1737 MS1073 M.R. Daily, 1738 MS1081 R.E. Anderson, 1739 MS1071 T.A. Dellin, 1704 1 MS1081 W.M. Miller, 1728 1 MS1435 A.K. Hays, 1800 Attn: MS0340 W.R. Cieslak, 1800 MS1434 G.E. Pike, 1802 MS1434 J.L. Jellison, 1803 MS1407 R.J Salzbrenner, 1805 MS1435 D.E. Hasti, 1806 MS1407 R.L. Clough, 1811 MS1405 G.V. Herrera, 1812 MS1407 J.H. Aubert, 1815 MS1405 R.P. Goehner, 1822 MS1411 D.B. Dimos, 1831 MS0367 B.K. Damkroger, 1833 MS1411 J.M. Phillips, 1834 MS1349 A.J. Hurd, 1841 MS0710 A.P. Sylwester, 1845 MS1349 W.F. Hammetter, 1846 1 MS0457 G.N. Beeler, 2000 1 MS0457 W.J. Tedeschi, 2001 MS0429 J.H. Stichman, 2100 MS0429 D.J. Gangel, 2101 MS0427 W.R. Reynolds, 2103 MS0453 D.L. McCoy, 2104 MS0475 R.C. Hartwig, 2105 MS0447 F.F. Dean, 2106 MS0447 J.O. Harrison, 2111 MS0487 J.D. Mangum, 2121 MS0486 M.E. Bleck, 2123 MS0519 T.R. Perea, 2125 1 MS0436 G.L. Maxam, 2147 1 MS0479 P.A. Sena, 2151 1 MS0482 V.J. Johnson, 2161 1 MS0483 T.D. Hernandez, 2165

MS1083 P.S. Winokur, 1727

1 MS0481 M.A. Rosenthal, 2167

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

MS0481 K.D. Meeks, 2168 1 1 MS9005 R.C. Wayne, 2200 1 MS9006 D.J. Bohrer, 2200 1 MS9014 W.G. Wilson, 2221 1 MS9036 C.M. Hinckley, 2254 1 MS9033 C.L. Knapp, 2262 1 MS9034 D.J. Beyer, 2263 1 MS9035 R.D. Monson, 2265 1 MS9013 R.G. Miller, 2266 1 MS9014 T.R. Harrison, 2271 MS0509 W.D. Williams, 2300 1 1 MS0537 M.J. Mundt, 2314 1 MS0501 J.R. Fellerhoff, 2334 1 MS0503 B.D. Shafer, 2335 MS1072 D.L. Eilers, 2335 1 1 MS0505 P.A. Molley, 2336 MS0501 M.K. Lau, 2338 1 MS0533 W.H. Schaedla, 2343 1 1 MS0537 R.M. Axline, 2344 1 MS0529 B.C. Walker, 2345 MS0529 M.B. Murphy, 2346 1 1 MS0519 B.L. Remund, 2348 1 MS0301 R.D. Andreas, 2400 1 MS0303 E.W. Reece, 2401 1 MS0303 M.W. Callahan, 2402 1 MS0843 J.T. Hitchcock, 2403 1 MS0303 W.E. Williamson, 2414 1 MS0314 E.J. Schindwolf, 2425 1 MS0507 C.M. Hart, 2600 1 MS0535 P.C. Montoya, 2606 MS0987 R.J. Longoria, 2611 1 MS0535 L.J. Dalton, 2615 1 1 MS0329 D.W. Plummer, 2643 1 MS0319 R.E. Kreutzfeld, 2645 1 MS0985 V.P. Salazar, 2663 MS0987 D.E. Ryerson, 2664 1 MS0986 M.E. Partridge, 2665 1 1 MS0311 J.W. Hole, 2671 1 MS0859 E.R. Hoover, 2673 1 MS0328 J.A. Wilder, 2674 1 MS0859 K.T. Stalker, 2693 MS0469 R.J. Detry, 2900 1 1 MS0470 S.L. Trauth, 2903 MS0470 G.M. Ferguson, 2903 1 1 MS0623 H.M. Witek, 2904 1 MS0470 C.A. Murray, 2905

1 MS0899 S. A. Landenberger, 4916 1 MS1231 R.L. Hagengruber, 5000 1 MS1231 W.M. Knauf, 5001 1 MS1221 H.T. Season Jr., 5100 MS1233 S.C. Hafner, 5100 1 1 MS1233 J.F. Ney, 5100 1 MS1233 G.A. Sanders, 5100 1 MS1393 G.C. Novotny Jr., 5100 1 MS9108 E.T. Cull, 5139 1 MS9006 D.J. Havlik, 5201 1 MS0417 R.G. Easterling, 5400 MS1221 J.S. Rottler, 5400 1 1 MS0421 W.C. Hines, 5401 MS0421 G.S. Brown, 5402 1 1 MS1225 J.L. McDowell, 5403 1 MS1221 R.D. Bentley, 5404 1 MS1225 A.B. Cox, 5405 1 MS0415 K.J. Almquist, 5411 1 MS0417 W.H. Ling, 5413 MS0421 T.D. Woodall, 5414 1 1 MS0425 S.K. Fraley, 5415 MS0423 R.A. Paulsen, 5417 1 1 MS0631 C.A. Yarnall, 5500 MS0724 J.B. Woodard, 6000 1 MS0736 T.E. Blejwas, 6400 1 1 MS0746 R.M. Cranwell, 6411 1 MS0747 A.L. Camp, 6412 MS9001 T.O. Hunter, 8000 1 1 MS9004 M.E. John, 8100 1 MS9201 L.D. Brandt, 8112 1 MS9201 A.S. Yoshimura, 8112 1 MS9201 P.K. Falcone, 8114 1 MS9201 T.E. Delano, 8114 1 MS9201 M.M. Johnson, 8114 1 MS9106 R.E. Oetken, 8115 1 MS9202 R.L. Bierbaum, 8116 1 MS9202 J.J. Cashen, 8116 1 MS9202 H.T. Chang, 8116 30 MS9202 J.L. Handrock, 8116 MS9202 A.J. Johnson, 8116 1 1 MS9202 K.D. Marx, 8116 1 MS9202 R.S. Tilley, 8116 MS9202 R.M. Zurn, 8116 1 MS9214 L.M. Napolitano, 8130 1 1 MS9001 A.E. Pontau, 8401 1 MS9102 M.W. Perra, 8402

1 MS9101 R.E. Clark, 8411 1 MS9006 P.T. Larson, 8413 1 MS9102 A.L. Hull, 8416 1 MS9405 T.M. Dyer, 8700 1 MS9003 D.R. Henson, 8900 1 MS0151 G. Yonas, 9000 Attn: MS0151 A.J. Caldwell, 9001 MS0337 R.D. Skocypec, 9002 MS0337 P.D. Van Buren, 9003 MS0557 K. Roach, 9004 MS0841 P.J. Hommert, 9100 1 Attn: MS0828 T.C. Bickel, 9100 MS0828 R.K. Thomas, 9104 MS0828 J.L. Moya, 9105 MS0828 J.R. Garcia, 9106 MS0826 W.L. Hermina, 9111 MS0834 A.C. Ratzel, 9112 MS0835 S.N. Kempka, 9113 MS0827 R.O. Griffith, 9114 MS0825 W.H. Rutledge, 9115 MS0836 C.W. Peterson, 9116 MS0443 H.S. Morgan, 9117 MS0836 J.H. Biffle, 9121 MS0841 M.A. Robertson, 9131 MS0555 M.S. Garrett, 9133 MS1135 D.B. Davis, 9134 MS0553 R.A. May, 9135 MS0826 J.D. Zepper, 9136 1 MS0557 T.J. Baca, 9119 1 MS0321 W.J. Camp, 9200 Attn: MS0318 G.S. Davidson, 9201 MS0316 P.F. Chavez, 9204 MS0321 P.R. Graham, 9208 MS0316 E.D. Gorham, 9209 MS0318 P.D. Heermann, 9215 MS1111 S.S. Dosanjh, 9221 MS1110 D.E. Womble, 9222 MS0321 A.L. Hale, 9224 MS1111 G.S. Heffelfinger, 9225 MS0441 R.W. Leland, 9226 MS0819 J.S. Peery, 9231 MS0820 P. Yarrington, 9232 MS0439 D.R. Martinez, 9234 MS1165 J. Polito Jr., 9300 1 Attn: MS1165 D.M. Rondeau, 9301 MS1170 G.A. Zawadzkas, 9302

MS1168 Y.K. Oglesby, 9309 MS1168 W.B. Boyer, 9321 MS1156 R.D. Tachau, 9322 MS1392 V. Gabbard Jr., 9324 MS1153 M.T. Buttram, 9330 MS1166 G.J. Scrivner, 9332 MS0105 R.B. Asher, 9336 MS1179 J.R. Lee, 9340 MS1179 W.P. Ballard, 9341 MS1106 A.W. Sharpe, 9342 MS1167 E.F. Hartman, 9343 MS1159 M.A. Hedemann, 9344 1 MS1002 P.J. Eicker, 9600 Attn: MS1003 R.D. Robinett III, 9611 MS1008 J.C. Fahrenholtz, 9621 MS1010 M.E. Olson, 9622 MS1004 R.W. Harrigan, 9623 MS1125 A.K. Miller, 9652 MS1006 P. Garcia, 9671 MS1007 A.T. Jones, 9672 MS0428 W.C. Nickell, 12300 1 MS0632 G.T. Merren, 12300 MS0428 W.L. Norris, 12301 MS0428 C.A. Trauth, 12301 MS0491 R.E. Smith, 12302 MS0539 R.W. Lizut, 12303 MS0539 G.L. Nordyke, 12303 MS0639 J.L. Duncan, 12303 MS0405 D.D. Carlson, 12304 MS0405 C.G. Shirley, 12304 MS0829 S.V. Crowder, 12323 MS0829 K.V. Diegert, 12323 MS0829 F.W. Spencer, 12323 MS0638 M.A. Blackledge, 12326 MS0490 P.E. D'Antonio, 12331 MS0492 D.R. Olson, 12332 MS0405 T.D. Brown, 12333 MS0405 T.R. Jones, 12333 MS0434 J.J. Everett, 12334 MS0830 E.W. Collins, 12335 MS0830 J.T. Henderson, 12335 MS0830 T. Kerschen, 12335 1 MS0830 N.D. Magnuson, 12335 MS0830 M.R. Martin, 12335 1 MS0830 R.W. Plowman, 12335

1

1

1

1 1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

1

- 1 MS0830 M.L. Terchila, 12335
- 1 MS0830 D.L. Wright, 12335
- 1 MS0830 J.L. Zubersky, 12335
- 1 MS0637 E.L. Saverino, 12336
- 1 MS0634 J.P. Biedscheid, 12361
- 1 MS0634 W.H. Carroll Jr., 12361
- 1 MS0634 S.L. Chavez, 12361
- 1 MS0634 G.S. Firstenburg, 12361
- 1 MS0634 F. Ghanbari, 12361
- 1 MS0634 B.J. Gomez, 12361
- 1 MS0634 R.F. Hahn, 12361
- 1 MS0634 L.M. Maestas, 12361
- 1 MS0634 B. So, 12361
- 1 MS0634 D.L. Westgate, 12361
- 1 MS0633 G.E. Easley, 12363
- 1 MS0633 F. Enote Jr., 12363
- 1 MS0633 F.P. Freeman, 12363
- 1 MS0633 G.E. Kelly, 12363
- 1 MS0633 G.W. Mayes, 12363
- 1 MS0633 W.L. Schrader, 12363
- 1 MS0633 D.O. Schuler, 12363

- 1 MS0633 J.J. Schwartz, 12363
- 1 MS0825 T.M. Sterk, 12363
- 1 MS1390 T. Frederiksen, 12364
- 1 MS0635 R.S. Goetsch, 12365
- 1 MS0635 G.W. Kuswa, 12365
- 1 MS0636 O.R. Hernandez, 12367
- 1 MS0867 J.L. Martinez, 14000
- 1 MS0872 J.A. Sayre, 14001
- 1 MS0872 N.E. Demeza, 14300
- 1 MS0872 W.E. Packer, 14311
- 1 MS0868 K.G. McCaughey, 14400
- 1 MS0856 L. Sena-Rondeau, 14408
- 1 MS0163 J.A. Tegnelia, 16000
- 3 MS9018 Central Technical Files, 8940-2
- 1 MS0899 Technical Library, 4916
- 1 MS9021 Technical Communications Department, 8815/Technical Library, MS0899, 4916
- 1 MS9021 Technical Communications Department, 8815 for DOE/OSTI

1....

# DISCLAIMER

Portions of this document may be illegible in electronic image products. Images are produced from the best available original document.